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Home near the present site of the American Library in Paris

Exporting American Print Culture: 

The Role of Bookwomen in Paris during the 1920s 

Abstract

Using the lens of gender, this essay examines the lives and collective contributions of American women who participated in the book world of Paris during the 1920s.  The focus is on Sylvia Beach’s bookshop, Shakespeare & Company; the American Library in Paris, which inherited the American Library Association (ALA) Library War Service reference collection; and the Paris Library School operated by the ALA from 1923 to 1929.  Working in each of these settings, women found innovative ways to make American books and print culture more widely known in France. 


 “Not bad at all, the life of a librarian in Paris!” This blithe assessment was offered by the authors of a 1929 guidebook entitled Paris Is a Woman’s Town.
 Librarians and booksellers were part of a small but enthusiastic group of women who promoted the dissemination of American books and print culture in Paris during the twenties.  Most studies of this fascinating decade focus on writers and small presses that were able to enjoy greater freedom of expression in France at a time when works with overtly sexual content were banned in the United States and Britain.    However, Americans who participated in the book world of Paris were much more diverse than the bohemian circle of writers attracted by the lively cultural scene and low rents on the Left Bank.   In fact, the book world in Paris can be thought of as a number of overlapping circles whose members included readers, writers, editors, translators, journalists, reviewers, booksellers, librarians, philanthropists, small presses, and mainstream publishers.   American women were involved in almost all these roles, but in many cases their work was silent and invisible. They were often intermediaries between readers and books, mediators between two cultures, facilitators of professional and literary exchange.   


The goal of this essay is to look not only at the role of women in diffusion of American books, but also at their participation in the multifaceted process of exporting print culture to France.  Print culture in this context concerns those values, beliefs, practices, customs and behaviors involved with creating, producing, and  disseminating the printed word.   Participants include those individuals and institutions (such as bookstores, publishers and libraries) that fostered professional exchange, published American writers, issued bibliographies, promoted America literature, and worked to increase the availability of books, journals and printed materials about the United States.  

The Left Bank: Sylvia Beach and the Literary Pilgrims 


One of the most noted American bookwomen in Paris during the 1920s was Sylvia Beach (1887—1962).  Although there were a few booksellers who provided both new and used American books to Parisians and to the expatriate community, Sylvia Beach is credited with opening the first lending library of English language books.   As a young woman Sylvia Beach spent over three years in Paris when her father was minister of the American Church and director of the American student center. After her family returned to the United States Sylvia made several trips back to Europe, lived for two years in Spain, and later worked for the Balkan Commission of the Red Cross.  During the last years of the Great War Sylvia was drawn back to Paris to study contemporary French literature.   While doing research at the Bibliothèque Nationale, she found the name of a bookshop in a French literary journal and decided to seek out the little store on the rue de l’Odéon.    There she was warmly greeted  by the bookseller who, to her surprise, was a plump fair-haired young woman. Named La Maison des Amis des Livres (literally the House of Friends of Books), this small shop featured comfortable chairs and framed pictures on the wall as well as a fine selection of modern French writing.  And its owner, Adrienne Monnier, was dressed in a long full skirt and velvet waistcoat, “all in grey and white” like her bookshop.


Although Sylvia was dressed in a Spanish cloak and hat, Adrienne knew immediately that she was American.  At that first meeting Adrienne declared “I like Americans very much.”  Sylvia  replied that she liked France very much—and so began a close, and sometimes passionate, friendship that lasted until Adrienne’s suicide in 1955.
  Adrienne characterized Sylvia as having a democratic spirit, a mischievous sense of humor, and an “exquisite sense of the French language.” Adrienne also portrayed Sylvia as being “so American and so French at the same time.  American by her nature…French through her passionate attachment to our country, through her desire to embrace its slightest nuances.”
 Sylvia immediately became a member of Adrienne’s lending library and when she was in Paris, she regularly attended the readings by authors such as André Gide, Paul Valéry and  Jules Romains.   


 Inspired by the literary life of the Left Bank and by 

Adrienne’s efforts to promote innovative writing, Sylvia dreamed of starting a branch of La Maison des Amis des Livres in New York where she would offer contemporary French works to American readers.  However, with only $3,000 capital, Sylvia soon found that she could not afford such a venture.  Adrienne then urged her to open an English language bookstore in the Latin Quarter, because Paris rents were much cheaper. Four years earlier when she launched her own shop, Adrienne was among the first women in France to found a book store.  Nonetheless Adrienne, who had worked as a teacher and as a literary secretary, loved the world of literature and was determined to make bookselling her career.   With limited capital she and her friend Suzanne Bonnierre opened their shop in 1915, a time when there was a genuine need for a new book store, since many booksellers had left Paris to enlist in the army.   As the renown of her shop spread, Adrienne’s advice was sought out by other women who hoped to follow her example and become booksellers.
  Adrienne not only provided Sylvia Beach with invaluable guidance, but also urged her own customers to buy English language books from her friend’s shop. 


 Sylvia’s new bookstore, Shakespeare & Company, quickly attracted both French and American readers—including a number of aspiring writers to whom she offered hospitality and encouragement as well as books.  As the favorable exchange rate attracted a huge influx of Americans, Sylvia’s shop flourished and soon needed more space.  In May 1921 Shakespeare & Company moved to 12 rue de l’Odéon, just across the street from Adrienne’s Maison des Amis des Livres. “Intimate and at the same time public spaces, unique in Paris, these two shops (maisons), thoroughly impregnated by the personalities of their owners, and thus impossible to imitate, nonetheless became spaces…that both excited and discouraged emulation.“
 The two shops, which both extended a home-like ambiance to  commercial space,  were to become landmarks in an intellectual territory that Adrienne named “Odéonia” and T. S. Eliot characterized as “the Franco-Anglo-American literary world of Paris.” 
  By sponsoring readings and encouraging informal conversations among authors and readers, the two women stimulated friendships as well as cultural exchange.  


Much later Hemingway wrote: “In those days when there was no money to buy books, I borrowed books from the rental library of Shakespeare and Company. On a cold windswept street, this was a warm, cheerful place with a big stove in the winter, tables and shelves of books, new books in the windows, and photographs on the wall of famous writers both dead and living.” 
  Sylvia Beach was aware that many potential readers, especially young writers, artists and students, had limited income, and she wrote in her memoir:  “Lending books, just as I had foreseen, was much easier in Paris than selling them … Our moderns, particularly when pounds and dollars were translated into francs,  were luxuries the French and my Left Bankers were not  able to afford.   So I got everything I liked myself,  to share with others in Paris.” 
 Her approach to business was indifferent, but she had an abiding passion for  reading.  Her biographer, Noel Riley Fitch, declared that Sylvia Beach “had no prices marked on the books, no placards announcing sales, and of course, no great profits.  She preferred to have a customer read a book before deciding to buy.  One assistant in the shop thought that she parted with each book reluctantly.  Very carefully she matched  customer and the book, a challenge she thought difficult as fitting shoes.” 
 


The  American journalist, Janet Flanner, who wrote  a regular New Yorker column from Paris, described  Sylvia  as  “a really remarkable librarian” who displayed “a vigorous, clear mind, an excellent memory, a tremendous respect for books and civilizing objects.” 
   However, Sylvia herself noted that her method of working “would have horrified an American librarian, with her catalogues and card indexes and mechanical appliances.  There was no catalogue—I preferred to let people find out for themselves how much was lacking; no card index—so unless you could remember… to whom all your books were lent, you had to look through all the members’ cards to find out what had become of a volume.”


Despite her apparent lack of business acumen, Sylvia not only managed to keep her shop afloat during the 1920s, she was also able to use her modest profits from bookselling to subsidize her one great literary venture—the publication of James Joyce’s Ulysses in 1922 (she drew no profits from the work—giving all the earnings to Joyce).   Because it was a courageous and costly undertaking to publish Joyce’s massive book (then banned in both the United States and Britain), Shakespeare & Company soon became more famous as a publishing house than as a bookstore.   Apart from Joyce’s Poems Penyeach and a book of essays on his “Work in Progress,”  Sylvia Beach issued no other publications.  However, since her bookshop remained a favorite gathering place of American writers, she often offered support to expatriates who started small English language presses.  In her memoir she recalls Robert McAlmon, a poet from the Midwest who established Contact Editions (1922-1931).  During these years McAlmon published Ernest Hemingway, Marsden Hartley, Gertrude Stein, William Carlos Williams and Nathaniel West in addition to many of his own poems and stories.
  Sylvia Beach soon introduced McAlmon to William Bird who had started Three Mountain Press which published Ezra Pound and Ford Maddox Ford, as well as a story by Hemingway.  Among Sylvia’s friends and clients were a wealthy American couple, Harry and Caresse Crosby, who founded Black Sun Press in 1925.  Although the Crosbys started by printing their own poetry, they later published a few other American writers and with Sylvia’s encouragement they also issued two works by James Joyce.  


 Acting as Joyce’s agent Sylvia Beach also placed his “Work in Progress” in monthly installments in transition, a new literary review started by another couple who were good clients, Eugene and Maria Jolas. Appearing from 1927 to 1938, transition was one of the longest running English language reviews in Paris and published a number of American writers, including T. S. Eliot.  Sylvia later recalled: “The best way of following the literary movement of the twenties is through the little reviews, often short lived, alas! but always interesting.  Shakespeare and Company never published one.  We had enough to do taking care of those published by our friends.”
   Adrienne, on the other hand, launched a French language review, le Navire d’Argent, in June 1925.   In addition to the works of French writers who frequented her bookshop, Adrienne published a translation which she and Sylvia had done of “The Love Song of J. Alfred Prufrock”— T. S. Eliot’s first major poem to appear in French. International in its scope, Adrienne’s review published lists of American works in translation as well as an issue on American writers including William Carlos Williams, Ernest Hemingway and e.e. cummings.   After twelve issues Adrienne had to abandon the Navire d’Argent, since the effort and the cost was more than she could manage.
 


Through their bookselling, publishing, and translating ventures both Adrienne and Sylvia did a great deal to make new American writing known in France. However both women also promoted “classic” American literature, and Sylvia had a special fondness for Walt Whitman. Encouraged by French and American friends who had formed the Walt Whitman Committee of Paris, Sylvia organized a Whitman exhibit in her bookstore. The exhibit was open two months, but like all Sylvia’s ventures, it  “was not meant to be commercial.  Its success was reflected in the enthusiasm of the French not in receipts or in bookshop sales.” 
   The 1926 Whitman exhibit nonetheless proved that Shakespeare & Company had become a destination for French writers interested in American literature as well as a gathering place for Americans.  Although in business for less than seven years at that time, Beach’s shop had already become an integral piece of the literary fabric of the Left Bank.

The Right Bank:  The American Library in Paris

One scholar writing about Paris during the 1920s characterized the literary geography of the city as being divided by the Seine: “The Left Bank, aristocratic and rustic, studious and bohemian, … was the elected domain of poets and writers with a small audience…. It was contrasted then, more than today, to the Right Bank, seat of elegance and of pleasure, of luxury and of success literature.”
  The Right Bank was also home to many of the wealthy and well established members of the American Colony, and at the end of World War I, it became the site of the largest collection of American books ever assembled on the continent. 


 By the time of the armistice, the Library War Service of American Library Association (ALA), whose mission was to provide reading for U.S. troops, had sent over more than 1.3 million books for the use of the American Expeditionary Forces in France.
  This massive operation was directed by Burton Stevenson, a librarian and novelist from Chillicothe, Ohio who was recruited to organize the ALA Library War Service work in Europe.  When the fighting ended, books from the American camps in France were shipped to a warehouse, but three copies of each significant book were sent to a central reference library in Paris. When his collection was opened to the public, it quickly began to attract the interest of Americans living in Paris. 


After talking with American business leaders and representatives of local organizations (such as the American Church, the American Chamber of Commerce, and the American Club), Burton Stevenson found there was strong interest in keeping the library in the city.  At that time American residents in Paris were different from most other immigrant groups because they were generally well off, had above average educational attainment, and did not come seeking work.
  Although certain avant-garde writers and artists thought of themselves as exiles from a more repressive society in the states, they  were not political refugees, and generally did not become assimilated into the French population; in fact most Americans, rich, poor or middle class, kept their nationality, their language and their passports.  Even Gertrude Stein who lived in France most of her adult life declared, in her inimitable fashion, that her country was America, but Paris was her home. 


Despite their fascination with France, Nicole Fouché, a French historian, notes that American residents had a long history of creating a microcosm for themselves:  

Since the 19th century, and especially in Paris, one finds an American civil society, active, responsible, that works, that produces, that travels, that consumes, that studies, that creates, that amuses itself… This society …is highly organized and sufficiently oriented toward the future to create its churches, its banks, its hospital, its clubs, its business offices, its associations, its lobbies, its networks.  …It is a city within a city.
   

American women also created their own organizations, and in the late 1920s the three most important were: the American Women’s Club whose 1200 members organized many social activities such as lectures, dances and Tuesday teas; the American University Woman’s Club (with 450 members) which had property in the Latin Quarter and offered lodging to female Sorbonne students from the US; and the Lyceum Club, founded at the turn of the century, to bring together women of many nationalities. 
.  Women tourists could also join in some of these club activities, and a 1929 travel guide for women noted that Paris contained “an American Village of some 10,000 inhabitants…[where] it is possible to find the comforts, sociability and protection of any Middle Western town.”
 


 The exact number of Americans resident in France during the 1920s is not known.   A 1921 article concluded that “after careful comparison of the data available” a conservative estimate would place the number of British and Americans “who are more or less permanent residents” at somewhere between 20,000 and 25,000 people. 
   Published seven years later, the Yearbook of the American Chamber of Commerce in France listed only 5,000 names and addresses of American residents, but this directory was limited to heads of household—wives and children were not included, nor were students.   Among those Americans indicating their occupations there were 173 writers, 168 artists, 73 engineers, 64 lawyers, 35 doctors, 31 dentists, 35 teachers, 16 librarians, and 12 architects; other occupations included bankers, merchants, journalists and retirees. 
.  In addition to these residents, there were also numerous students,-- and in 1924 the American University Union was in contact with over 3,000 a year.


Once the ALA reference library was opened to the public, members of this very diverse American community began to take advantage of its service—soon claiming it as their surrogate public library.   However Burton Stevenson declared that ALA had no obligation whatsoever to these residents and no reason to present them with a library; in fact, he strongly believed that “every library should be supported by the community which it serves.” 
    After several preliminary committee meetings  Stevenson called a public gathering  in November 1919 to discuss the future of the library and test the level of local support. Among the first donors was Charles Seeger, father of the poet Alan Seeger who had died in action.  After Seeger donated 50,000 francs from the royalties of his son’s poetry, many others came forward with large and small donations.


 As a result of this successful fundraising effort, the American Library in Paris became incorporated as a private, nonprofit corporation under the laws of the state of Delaware on May 20, 1920.  Under the leadership of Seeger and Stevenson, the Paris organizing committee decided that the library would have three goals: “(1) to memorialize the American Expeditionary Force, (2) to promote understanding and knowledge of America, and (3) to provide an example of American Library methods to the librarians of Europe.”
  ALA  was especially eager to promote American library practices, and in a letter to the new board, ALA leaders expressed the hope that the library would become “an ALA outpost in Europe,”  as well as serving as  “a first class public library” that provided “a free,  expert information service for statesmen, publicists, journalists and general readers seeking knowledge on public affairs and conditions in America.” 
  ALA continued to pay for the operation of the library in 1920, and on November 2nd of that year the association deeded the collection  of 25,000 books and other property to the new corporation.  Although the deed of gift stated that books and equipment were to be transferred unconditionally, the constitution stipulated that ALA had the right to appoint 5 of the 15 members of the board  and the right to nominate the library director who then had to be approved by the trustees.


Throughout the 1920s a large proportion of the Paris board were American business men, although the membership at various times included writers, scholars, members of the diplomatic corps, clergymen, and representatives from the British community as well as a few prominent French supporters.   The board was exclusively male by 1927, but in the early years three prominent women served as trustees.  The best known among them was the author Edith Wharton (1862-1937) who had by then lived in France for over a decade. During World War I Wharton led a committee to aid refugees from northeastern France and Belgium and helped establish workrooms to employ women who had no means of support. To honor her relief work she was made a chevalier of the Legion of Honor.  The second woman on the board was Clara Longworth de Chambrun (1873-1954), who like Wharton, came from a wealthy American family.    She had lived in France for many years and held French citizenship because of her marriage to the Count de Chambrun, a descendent of Lafayette.   The countesse wrote for literary periodicals, earned a doctorate from the Sorbonne in 1921, and was highly respected as a Shakespearean scholar.  Both the countess and Wharton served on the board for four years, from 1921 through 1924.  


The third female trustee was Anne Tracy Morgan (1873-1952), the youngest daughter of the banker J. P. Morgan.   Like Wharton, Morgan had received honors from the French government for her relief efforts during the war.  Her philanthropy continued into the 1920s when she and a close friend, Anne Murray Dike (1875-1929), founded an organization for post-war reconstruction--the American Committee for Devastated France, which is known by its French acronym, CARD (Comité Américain pour les Régions Dévastées). CARD employed only women, and in addition to its work establishing health centers, orphanages, and community centers, the committee also constructed several small, open-access public libraries modeled after those in the United States. 
   Morgan had already become involved with these library efforts when she agreed to serve on the board of the American Library in Paris in 1923.  


Even though there were no women trustees when Anne Morgan ended her service in 1926, a few women did support the library as patrons who made donations of over 5,000 francs; others paid either 2,000 francs to become life members or 100 francs for an annual membership.
 In 1925 women actually outnumbered men among the patrons of the library (nine men and ten women); that same year life memberships were held by 31 men, but only 11 women.
  However, out of the 295 annual members, there were  167 men (57%) and 118 women (40%) and 10 organizations (03%).  Among the women annual members was Gertrude Stein, who had been an active user of the library since 1922. 


Throughout the 1920s, when women represented less than 40% of donors to the American Library, they consistently accounted for majority of the professional staff.  However, no woman was offered the library directorship during these years.  Burton Stevenson believed that the French did not take women librarians seriously as professionals,
 and this bias was most likely shared by certain leaders at ALA--even though a woman was serving as ALA President in 1920 when the deed of gift was signed.  The trustees in Paris clearly believed that the director of the American Library should be a male scholar-librarian in order to be accepted as an equal by European colleagues.   Charles Seeger, the first president of the board, expressed satisfaction with the appointment of Dr. W.N.C. Carlton of the Newberry Library, whom he characterized as “one of the most distinguished librarians in America.”
.
 When Carlton had to leave before the end of his first year, a woman served as acting librarian for four months while the board undertook another search for a scholar-librarian. The second director they appointed was Dr. W. Dawson Johnston who had published a history of the Library of Congress while he was employed there.  Johnston had also worked in both public and academic libraries and came with a strong recommendations. When Johnston accepted a position as European representative of the Library of Congress in 1925, the board invited Burton Stevenson to return to Paris where he served as director of the American Library until June 1930.


Stevenson and his two predecessors all agreed that it was essential to recruit librarians from the United States to fill the majority of positions.  Initially the library had been organized by ALA Library War Service staff who catalogued and classified the collection using American standards little known in Europe--including the Dewey Decimal Classification and the American subject headings. Aware that the library board, made up largely of business men, understood little about the nature of librarianship, Dr. Carlton emphasized that the American Library in Paris was “not the creation of amateurs, nor of well intentioned young persons desirous of following a genteel occupation.”  Rather it resulted from the work of a “succession of highly trained men and women”.  Carlton concluded that the future success of the library would “require the same types and degrees of intelligence, special training and unselfish service which have characterized its workers up to this time.” 
 


Despite Carlton’s plea to maintain a highly qualified staff, four positions went unfilled the following year, and the acting librarian Alida Stephens noted that there were only six assistants who had to catalog and process materials as well as assuring public service for twelve hours a day on weekdays and eight hours on Sundays.  The library was indeed busy, serving several hundred visitors a day and by 1921 over 3,400 individuals were purchasing subscriptions to check out books.
  Unfortunately the membership fees were not enough to adequately support the library, and the board continually struggled to raise additional money.  Librarian salaries during the 1920s reflected the meagerness of the budget—-and Dr. Johnston attributed frequent turn over of staff to the low pay and to  “overwork due to the insufficient number of assistants.”
  


By 1923 the financial condition at the library improved and Johnston was able to employ fifteen full-time assistants as well as offering a slight increase in salary.  However he remarked: “Occasionally an individual may be found whose private fortune enables her to accept a nominal salary here as one of our assistants has done, but persons like her are rare; the ordinary librarian is dependent on her salary and the most competent librarians will go where salaries are highest.”
  In his last year, Johnston reported that the average salary of assistants had increased from 950 francs in 1923 to 1355 francs by 1925. 
  However, he was far from satisfied and confronted the board with an appeal to their national pride, stating: “It is my hope that the prospective increase in the income of the Library will enable the Trustees to at least double this salary.  An American institution should pay at least a living wage.“
  During the 1920s a stenographer with good English language skills in Paris would be paid 1000 francs, but an American guidebook recommended that such a salary would need to be “supplemented by a small allowance from home.” 

 
 Johnston lobbied hard for salaries that would be high enough to recruit and retain highly qualified American librarians because he believed their expertise was essential to effective public service.
 He also spoke at ALA in 1924 where he sought out experienced librarians who wished work in Paris on a temporary basis—-preferably for a year or two.  While Johnston believed that the most important work of the library should be performed by permanent staff, he declared: “there is no reason why some of its work should not be done by visiting librarians,” and he hoped that in the future “some of the more progressive libraries will discover the advantage of sending a member of their staff to Europe periodically to assist in the work of the Library, and with this Library as a base, carry on such bibliographical research work that may be of greatest value to the institution and the community which they represent.”
  The next year, when Burton Stevenson became director, he followed through with this idea.  However, because Stevenson was concerned by the issue of staff turn-over, he advocated a plan whereby department heads would be appointed on a more permanent basis and could therefore train and supervise those “properly-qualified librarians” who wished to have a year or more of experience in Europe.  He felt that such an arrangement would be of mutual benefit, allowing the American Library in Paris to have “the services of a more highly trained staff than would otherwise be possible”; these librarians in turn would go back to their institutions “with a broadened outlook and a better comprehension of world conditions, from which their libraries are certain to benefit.”
 


By 1927 this recruitment strategy was working well and Stevenson declared that the prestige of the library had enabled it to attract applications from experienced librarians from all over the United States—-in fact at the time  he had “fifty such applications on file” and received two or three new ones every week. 
   While much success of this recruitment effort was due to exposure at ALA and articles in professional journals, there were also occasional pieces on the library in French and American newspapers.  And by 1929  Helen Josephy and Mary Margaret McBride, authors of Paris Is a Woman’s Town, wrote: “Entertaining and worth-while work from every standpoint except money is to be found at the American Library.”
  They reported that the library’s salary scale ranged from $72 a month for beginners to $100 for department heads.  This was comparable to the pay for teachers at the American High School but far below that of stenographers and translators at the American embassy--who earned $150 a month (a salary considered “tremendous for Paris”).  Nonetheless Josephy and McBride advised that an American librarian could manage on $100 or less if she lived in a low rent district on the Left Bank, rode second class in the Metro “along with the impoverished white-collar French,” and dined in six franc prix fix restaurants.  They concluded : ”But at the library she can get lunch and tea at a well-run employee’s cafeteria and soon she is revelling in a series of literary encounters with everybody from Gertrude Stein and her crowd to French nobility and high-born Russian refugees who use the library as a loafing ground.”
 


The dozens of American women who worked at the Paris library during the 1920s were drawn there not by the pay but by the glamour and mystique of the city.  However, many were also inspired by the opportunity to introduce American books and library ideals in France, and all had to be willing to work long hours. The dedication of the staff was warmly praised by Stevenson who referred “to a certain mystic quality of service here.” By this he meant “a truly exceptional devotion, a determination to do one’s best, and a cheerful willingness to undertake any extra work which may be necessary.”
  In 1927 the staff demonstrated an extraordinary esprit de corps by their unanimous decision to volunteer to do most of the inventory on Sundays and holidays rather than close their doors to the public.  As a result, the inventory was completed with only a two day closure.  Stevenson concluded: “I think it is not too much to say that the members of the staff love the library and their work.”
  He also added: “There are few libraries with a personnel of such uniformly thorough training and experience, or so well qualified in every department…” 


The staff list for 1927 indicates the impressive level of experience that these sixteen women and five men brought to their work in Paris.
  Three were graduates of New York State Library School, two from Simmons, and one from the Los Angeles Public Library School. Several had worked at major research libraries in governmental institutions including the Library of Congress, the Smithsonian Institution and the New York State Library.  Those with academic library experience came from Columbia and from the University of Michigan, while public librarians were drawn from Oakland Public Library, the Carnegie Library of Pittsburgh, Los Angeles Public Library, and New York Public Library.  Whatever their background or experience, they undoubtedly found new challenges facing them in Paris. In addition to cataloging, reference work, and circulation, these librarians were also engaged in numerous bibliographic projects.  Special subject expertise was  demanded of those in the Reference Service on International Affairs, a separate library unit that issued a fortnightly review (the European Economic and Political Survey) as well as  publishing topical bulletins on current international issues.  In addition, this staff of seven also published English translations of certain works of special interest to the American business community, such as the new French taxation laws.


 While the work of librarians who compiled bibliographies or wrote reports can be documented, there is limited information on the careers or contributions of most American women who served at the Paris library during the 1920s.  In fact, yearbooks prior to the 1928 do not even have personnel listings; however, the annual reports do acknowledge the special contributions of a few staff members.   In 1921 Charles Seeger expressed the board’s appreciation to  Acting Librarian Alida Stephens “for her very efficient conduct of the Library and her willingness to remain, at considerable self-sacrifice, until the arrival of Dr. Carlton’s successor.” 


The second woman to fill the role of “Acting Librarian” was Helen Lathrop, who took on this title in 1931 when the financial situation of the library had deteriorated to the point that Robert Davis, Burton Stevenson’s successor as director, was forced to leave and his position was abolished.  By that time Lathrop was the most senior staff member, having worked at the library since 1919 when it was operated by ALA.  Lathrop was a native of California and received her A. B. degree from Stanford University in 1902.  Four years later she earned a certificate from New York State Library School and then attended the Carnegie Library training school in Pittsburgh.  Prior to coming to France she held professional positions at Stanford University, Oakland Public Library and Bryn Mawr College.  In Paris she was initially in charge of the reading room and loan department, but from 1922 to 1931 she lists her position as reference librarian. 


In 1922 the assistant librarian position at the American Library was given to another New York State Library School graduate, Mrs. Elizabeth Gray Potter, a widow who, like Helen Lathrop, was employed by the ALA War Service in Paris in 1918-1919. 
  She then worked briefly with the war service collection in Coblenz, Germany  before taking a position at Mills College in Oakland, CA in 1920.   Two years later she returned to the American Library in Paris on leave from her position at Mills College. 


Although it is far beyond the scope of this study to document the careers of dozens of women who briefly worked at the library during the 1920s, two individuals do stand out.  The first, Constance Winchell (1896-1983), is best known for her subsequent work as reference librarian at Columbia University where she compiled and edited the monumental Guide to Reference Books published by ALA.  A graduate of the University of Michigan, Winchell took a certificate from the New York Public Library School in 1920 and worked for the U. S. Merchant Marine in New York City where she was responsible for libraries in lighthouses.  She then returned to the University of Michigan, working in  cataloging and in reference for  three years.  Then in 1924 she came to the American Library in Paris where she was head cataloger for one year. 


 In contrast to Constance Winchell, Mary Prescott Parsons (1885-1971) is virtually unknown today, even though she had a very distinguished career that spanned three continents.  A 1913 graduate of the New York State Library School, Parsons worked for four years at the New York Public Library before being named head of the Morristown New Jersey Public Library.  In 1923 she took a position as Assistant Librarian at the American Library in Paris and the following year she was recruited to became Resident Director of the Paris Library School.  Parsons subsequently earned a doctorate from the University of Vienna; taught at the University of Michigan; served as acting director of the library school at McGill University in Montreal; worked for the U. S. Office of War Information during World War II; established and directed the first library school in New Zealand (1947-48); and then returned to Paris to set up the United States Information Service library (1948-1952).  In 1958 when she was awarded an honorary doctorate by her alma mater, Smith College, she wrote: “This honor is deeply appreciated … because it recognizes the interesting and frequently adventuresome profession of librarianship.”
 For Parsons, the real adventure began in France, and her five years  running the Paris Library School were among the most challenging of her career.

Paris Library School :  Creating a New Career for Women


Housed at the American Library, but sponsored by the  American  Library Association (ALA), the Paris Library School provided a unique opportunity for  cross-cultural exchange between American and French librarians.
    When  the six week summer program was launched in 1923, its goal was to train French staff for the public libraries set up by the American Committee for Devastated France (CARD) under the direction of Anne Morgan.  The idea of starting the training program is attributed to Jessie Carson, a children’s librarian from New York Public Library, who had volunteered with CARD for general reconstruction work in the region of Aisne.  While working with these villagers Carson became aware of their need for books and convinced the CARD leadership to build libraries in wooden barracks.   Carson was delighted at the enthusiastic reception that these libraries received from the local population, and declared that it was the people who “insisted on having them.  They were even willing …to do with less of the actual physical necessities to have ‘food for their minds.’” 
  The response from the most progressive leaders of the French library association was equally enthusiastic, and they began to advocate the creation of similar libraries throughout France.   Nonetheless, Carson feared that the small model libraries would cease to function when the Americans left unless they could be staffed by French librarians trained in American library methods. 


 With the support of French library leaders, Carson persuaded the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace to provide scholarships for six French women to study at American library schools.
    However, she knew that many more librarians would be needed to maintain the efforts in Aisne and extend the work beyond the northeastern region of France.  She therefore convinced CARD to fund the summer session course in Paris, and persuaded ALA to support the effort.  Sarah Bogle, who was then the ALA Assistant Secretary and an experienced library educator, was sent to organize the first class.  Bogle also recruited a number of American librarians to lecture during the summer session, including several women.  Much later, Margueite Gruny, who was a 19 year old student in that first summer class, fondly remembered her American instructors as having “such a high ideal of library service that they were at the same time naïve, admirable and moving.”  And she recalled the school as “being animated by “a lively atmosphere of conviction and hope,” which inspired the students who “seemed to be seized by this exciting atmosphere.”
. 


Elated that French library leaders enthusiastically endorsed American training, Bogle and Carson urged ALA to establish a program that would offer a full academic year of instruction.   However, since ALA did not wish Bogle to remain in France full-time, she recruited Mary Prescott Parsons to become the resident director.  Nonetheless, because of her status as a leading expert on American library education, Bogle retained the title of director and was released to come to France  once or twice a year to offer classes and directly supervise the school. 



Parsons worked closely with Bogle to recruit the most capable American librarians as instructors, including a number of remarkable women.  Among them was Josephine Rathbone, an ALA leader who had headed Pratt Institute library school for over a decade.  Rathbone actively recruited women into the field, asserting that librarianship offered “scope for the exercise of all a woman's powers, executive ability, knowledge of books, social sympathies, [and] knowledge of human nature."
   In a  vocational  guide  for women,  Rathbone declared that each  librarian had “the opportunity of making her library the center of the educational and intellectual life of the community;” therefore, she must make it her business “to attract people to the library by making its resources known, by  stimulating an interest in books, and by creating an atmosphere of culture, hospitality and helpfulness within the library itself.” 
 


Outstanding women in technical services also taught at the Paris Library School; best known among them was Margaret Mann (1873-1960) who had headed the cataloging department and taught in the library school at the Carenegie Library in Pittsburgh.  In 1918 she worked with camp libraries sponsored by the ALA Library War Service, and then went to New York to organize the collections of the Engineering Societies Library, where she remained until 1924.  That year Sarah Bogle persuaded Mann to come to Paris to teach cataloging as a full-time faculty member at the school.  Although she was not fluent in French, she impressed students by her thorough knowledge and intellectual rigor.  During her two years in Paris she not only became internationally known, but established friendships that continued long after her retirement.  In 1926 when William Warner Bishop recruited her to come to the University of Michigan as a cataloging and classification instructor, he praised her as “the best teacher of these subjects to be found anywhere…she is … recognized universally as one of the best authorities on cataloging.” 
    


While the goal of the Paris library school was to teach American methods of cataloging, classification and library administration, Bogle and Parson both realized that it was important to respect long-established French practices. Parson even took courses the Ecole des Chartes (the French archival training school) in order to better understand French library methods.  She also worked closely with leading French institutions and with progressive library leaders like Eugène Morel and Gabriel Henriot, both of whom served as part-time faculty.  Throughout the school’s brief history the rapport between the French leaders who lectured regularly and the American women who directed the school was excellent.  Bogle continually stressed that the school should provide a forum for mutual learning, and believed that “France could contribute … quite as much to this newer country as the newer country can give back in the way of library techniques.” 
  Working closely with French professionals who pioneered the “modern library movement,”  the faculty of the Paris library school promoted a new, client-centered model of librarianship, and a new career for women. 


Of the 103 French students who completed the program, 89 were women and 14 were men--at a time when roughly 80% of French library posts were held by men.
   Nonetheless, as a result of enormous loss of men during war, women were being welcomed into many professions that had been previously closed to them; in fact, between 1911 and 1931 the number of women in the salaried workforce in France increased from 2.7 million to 7.9 million—and over half were single. 

 While American bookwomen like Sarah Bogle, Mary Prescott Parsons, Margaret Mann and Jessie Carson did not initiate the feminization of librarianship in France, they served as role models, actively recruited women, and inspired them with new ideals of public library service. 


These ideals were also realized in a concrete form through the  creation of two American style libraries within the Paris municipal library system.  The first, which opened in 1922, was a branch library on rue Fessart in Belleville, a very poor district of Paris.  Organized and operated for a year with funds from CARD, this library was housed in a wooden barrack, like the model libraries built in Aisne; it was directed by Hélène Ducaroy who attended library school in the United States and staffed by others trained by the Paris Library School.   The second American style institution was L’Heure Joyeuse, a wonderful children’s library established as the result of a gift from a philanthropic organization of American women known as the Book Committee on Children’s Libraries.   Directed for many years by Marguerite Gruny, this library is acknowledged as the model for children’s services in public libraries throughout France.
 

Exporting Print Culture to France: Legacies Of American Bookwomen


The institutional legacy of the 1920s left by the Americans is still visible in Paris today.   Both the children’s library and the public library on the rue Fessart are active municipal libraries, and both are housed in new, permanent buildings in the same neighborhoods where they were founded.   L’Heure Joyeuse  still welcomes children, parents, writers, illustrators, publishers, and all those doing research on children’s  literature and it carefully maintains a historic collection of children’s books as a testimony to its role as the first children’s library in France.    


Against great odds both the American Library in Paris and  Shakespeare & Company survived the depression.  However, in each case, survival was only possible because of the aid received from France—-which is, in itself, clear evidence of the value that American books had for French readers.  The American Library in Paris narrowly averted closing its doors in 1936 when the French government offered it a subsidy of 100,000 francs.  That same year, when a financially stricken Sylvia Beach planned to close her shop,  André Gide organized a group of writers into a club called Friend’s of Shakespeare & Company.     Subscribers paid 200 francs a year to attend readings held at Beach’s book shop, but these subscriptions had to be limited to 200 people--which was the maximum number the store could accommodate.  Nonetheless Sylvia Beach recalled,  “By this time we were so glorious with all these famous writers and all the press we received that we began to do very well in business.”
 


Shakespeare & Company remained open after the fall of France, but by the December 1941 Nazi threats forced Sylvia Beach to close.  She chose not to reopen after the liberation, but later joined the board of American Library in Paris, which had remained open throughout the German occupation.  Its survival during those bleak years was due to the untiring efforts of Clara Longworth, Countess de Chambrun, who took on the role of librarian.  Although the American Library has had a continual struggle to gain adequate funding, it now occupies its own building on a small street in a lovely residential neighborhood near the Eiffel Tower.  There in the heart of Paris, it continues to serve French and American readers, with a predominately female staff under the directorship of Shirley Lambert.  


While the survival of the American library was largely due to the efforts of women, their role in exporting American print culture to France has also been felt in other, less visible ways.  As  Shari Benstock observed, because expatriate women had a separate place “outside the bounds of French society,” this “allowed them to dismiss the fear of rejection, the weight of inhibition, the constraint of traditional attitudes and roles.” 
  While neither Sylvia Beach nor the American librarians in Paris went beyond the acceptable social norms of dress and behavior, they nonetheless invented new social  and professional identities for themselves, independent from the ties of home and family.  


In addition, these bookwomen were actively engaged in the public sphere where they created new spaces that were open and welcoming to women readers as well as men, and to children as well as adults.  Adrienne Monnier thought of her store as “a transition between house and street,”
 and  Beach’s store was remembered as warm and cheerful.  Housed in an elegant mansion, the American Library was recommended to women tourists as a “cozy home-like place to browse about in dour days.”
  This was hardly the image that the first director,  Dr. Carlton,  had in mind when he laid out an ambitious plan to develop “a general and special library” of works documenting the contributions of English-speaking peoples to modern civilization.  He noted: “Such a gift would be both practical and idealistic.  It would be as unique of its kind as the Statue of Liberty given to us by France, and as symbolic in within its own sphere.”
  Given that almost all the public service  was carried out by women librarians, the American library, like the Statue of Liberty, welcomed the world with a woman’s face.

 Just as the United States had become both a negative and positive symbol of modernity for France, the freedom and frankness shown by American women symbolized changes in the social order that were welcomed by some and feared by others. Writing about interwar Paris, feminist scholars Chadwick and Latimer describe the emancipated modern women (“la femme moderne”) as a symbol “personifying social, political, intellectual, and technological changes. …  She was in control, self-assured, capable, aggressive, adventurous, independent. As a figure in transit and in transition, she traveled unescorted, … migrat[ing] or immigrat[ing] to cultural capitals like Paris, where she pursued her independence via new vocations.”
  This characterization aptly describes many of the American bookwomen who came to Paris after the Great War; in fact Mary Parsons was probably not alone in thinking of librarianship as “an adventuresome profession.”   A number of the other American librarians had originally come over to help with the War Service libraries or with reconstruction efforts; they also brought diverse kinds of work experience—from Mills College in California to the Library of Congress in Washington and lighthouse libraries for the New York coast guard.  Even the three women among the American Library Trustees, Anne Morgan, Edith Wharton and the Countess de Chambrun, had engaged in war relief efforts, traveled widely, and were recognized with honors seldom given to women.  While these bookwomen probably would not have thought of themselves as “aggressive,” they definitely were willing to take risks, and some, like  Anne Morgan, Jessie Carson and Sarah Bogle, thrived in leadership positions that required them to gain the support of prominent men (both French and American) in order to create new institutions.  French scholars Evelyn Diebolt and Nicole Fouché emphasized that while CARD was run entirely by women, Anne  Morgan and Anne Murray Dike were too intelligent and too well integrated into society to cut themselves off from existing centers of power--to which they gained access through men in their economic and social milieu. 
 


When these bookwomen moved into the public sphere, they also brought with them an ethic of care that infused their work.   For Sylvia Beach, nurturing writers was perhaps more significant than importing and promoting American and English literature in Paris.  Hemingway offered her a very simple tribute by saying: “No one that I ever knew was nicer to me.” 
   And Janet Flanner, a lifelong friend, admired  Sylvia’s “inherited morality” as well as “her trust in human beings, and her own trustworthiness for good things like generosity, sympathy and integrity, humor [and] kind acts.” 
  Nearly all studies on  Beach emphasize her almost religious  devotion to her work; for example, Benstock characterizes Sylvia as “the patron saint of literary experimentalism”  and comments that she “exuded energy and missionary zeal” in contrast to Adrienne’s quiet determination in her self-appointed role “as the abbess of the avant-garde.” 

Unlike Beach, the librarians on the Right Bank focused on providing information about the United States and demonstrating effective library practices rather than promoting literature.  However, an ethic of care for readers also characterized their work, and Stevenson praised the staff for providing “a mystic quality of service.”
 Their devotion to librarianship resulted in a new kind of experience for French readers, to whom reference and advisory services were almost unknown.  


Because the American Library in Paris was considered so innovative by French librarians as well as the public, the staff saw their role as going far beyond routine service.  To the degree that cramped quarters, a meager budget, and staffing limitations allowed, these experienced librarians did their utmost to create an exemplary library that would represent the best “the New World” had to offer.  By the 1920s public libraries had become an essential component of print culture in the United States, while in France, as the director of the Carnegie Endowment pointed out, libraries were “usually thought of as collections of books for scholars and students.” 
   With this idea in mind, Charles Seeger declared  “our Library is essentially an American institution planted on foreign soil, a missionary for one of America’s most cherished ideals,--popular education by means of books, ….” 
 



The women who worked at the American Library in Paris not only promoted the “modern library” as a way of extending access to print culture in France, they also influenced the first generation of French female librarians who studied at the ALA school and used the library for some of their practice work. However, since women did not hold the directorship of the American Library, their status mirrored the contemporary situation in the United States where directorships of most major institutions were reserved for men, and women were relegated to management rather than administration.  In contrast, the Paris Library School was administered by two dynamic women who provided an example of female leadership that was seldom seen in France during the 1920s--when women were just beginning to enter the professions, and few had attained senior posts.  Although this innovative school existed for only six years, it had a profound effect on dozens of librarians who were introduced to a radically different ideology of public librarianship, and an equally radical conception of new roles that women could play.  Not only did graduates of the Paris Library School, such as Marguerite Gruny,  serve as role models for a younger generation,  they also did a great  deal to adapt and incorporate principles of  American librarianship into the reform of  French  public libraries that occurred between 1945 and 1975.  
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